

Development Support Document Final, June 16, 2014 Revised Odor Value, September 14, 2015

Ammonia

CAS Registry Number: 7664-41-7

Prepared by

Allison Jenkins, MPH

Lindsey Jones, MS

Office of the Executive Director

TEXAS COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

Ammonia Page i

Revision History

Original Development Support Document (DSD) posted as final on June 16, 2014.

Revised DSD September 14, 2015: the odor-based value was updated based on an evidence integration approach and historical information (TCEQ 2015).

January 28, 2016: Editorial changes made

TABLE OF CONTENTS

REVISION HISTORY	I
TABLE OF CONTENTS	II
LIST OF TABLES	III
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	IV
CHAPTER 1 SUMMARY TABLES	1
CHAPTER 2 MAJOR SOURCES AND USES	4
CHAPTER 3 ACUTE EVALUATION	5
3.1 HEALTH-BASED ACUTE REV AND ACUTEESL	5
3.1.1 Physical/Chemical Properties	
3.1.2 Key and Supporting Studies	
3.1.2.1 Human Studies	
3.1.2.1.1 Key Study (Sundblad et al. 2004)	
3.1.2.1.2 Supporting Study (Verberk 1977)	
3.1.2.1.3 Sigurdarson et al. (2004)	
3.1.2.1.4 Petrova et al. (2008)	8
3.1.2.1.5 Other Supporting Studies	8
3.1.2.2 Animal Studies	
3.1.2.2.1 Upper Respiratory Tract Studies	
3.1.2.2.1 Reproductive/Developmental Studies	
3.1.3 Mode of Action (MOA) and Dose Metric	
3.1.4 Point of Departure (POD) for Key Study and Critical Effect	11
3.1.5 Dosimetric Adjustments	11
3.1.6 Adjustments of the POD _{HEC}	
3.1.7 Health-Based Acute ReV and acute ESL	12
3.2. WELFARE-BASED ACUTE ESLS	13
3.2.1 Odor Perception	
3.2.2 Vegetative Effects	14
3.3. SHORT-TERM ESL AND VALUES FOR AIR MONITORING EVALUATION	
3.3 ACUTE INHALATION OBSERVED ADVERSE EFFECT LEVELS (OAELS)	
CHAPTER 4 CHRONIC EVALUATION	16
4.1 NONCARCINOGENIC POTENTIAL	16
4.1.1 Physical/Chemical Properties and Key Studies	
4.1.1.1 Physical/Chemical Properties	16
4.1.1.2 Key Study (Holness et al. 1989)	17
4.1.1.3 Other Studies	17
4.1.2 MOA and Dose Metric	
4.1.3 POD for Key Study and Critical Effect	
4.1.4 Dosimetric Adjustment	19
4.1.5 Adjustments of the POD _{HEC}	20
4.1.6 Health-Based Chronic ReV and chronic ESL _{threshold(nc)}	21
4.1.7 Comparison of Various Chronic Toxicity Values	23

Ammonia Page iii

4.2 CARCINOGENIC POTENTIAL	23
4.3 WELFARE-BASED CHRONIC ESL	
4.4 LONG-TERM ESL AND VALUES FOR AIR MONITORING EVALUATION	25
4.5 CHRONIC INHALATION OAEL	25
CHAPTER 5 REFERENCES	25
5.1 REFERENCES CITED IN THE DEVELOPMENT SUPPORT DOCUMENT	25
5.2 OTHER STUDIES AND DOCUMENTS REVIEWED BY THE TCEQ	31
LIST OF TABLES	
Table 1. Air Monitoring Comparison Values (AMCVs) for Ambient Air ^a	1
Table 2. Air Permitting Effects Screening Levels (ESLs)	2
Table 3. Chemical and Physical Data	3
Table 4 Visual Analogue Scale Ratings (Sundblad et al. 2004)	7
Table 5 Derivation of the Acute ReV and acute ESL	
Table 6 Derivation of the Chronic ReV and chronicESL _{threshold(nc)}	22
Table 7 Comparison of Ammonia Chronic Toxicity Values	

Acronyms and Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Definition	
A	animals	
AEGL	acute exposure guideline level	
AMCV	air monitoring comparison value	
°C	degrees Celsius	
CalEPA	California Environmental Protection Agency	
CNS	central nervous system	
DSD	development support document	
ESL	effects screening level	
acuteESL	acute health-based effects screening level for chemicals meeting minimum database requirements	
acute ESL _{odor}	acute odor-based effects screening level	
acuteESL _{veg}	acute vegetation-based effects screening level	
$^{chronic}ESL_{threshold(c)}$	chronic health-based effects screening level for threshold dose response cancer effect	
chronicESL _{threshold(nc)}	chronic health-based effects screening level for threshold dose response noncancer effects	
${}^{chronic}ESL_{nonthreshold(c)}$	chronic health-based effects screening level for nonthreshold dose response cancer effects	
chronic ESL nonthreshold(nc)	chronic health-based effects screening level for nonthreshold dose response noncancer effects	
chronicESLveg	chronic vegetation-based effects screening level	
F	exposure frequency, days per week	
FeV	forced expiratory volume	
h	hour	
Н	humans	
Hg	mercury	
HEC	human equivalent concentration	

Abbreviation	Definition		
HQ	hazard quotient		
kg	kilogram		
LOAEL	lowest-observed-adverse-effect-level		
LOEL	lowest-observed-effect-level		
MW	molecular weight		
μg	microgram		
$\mu g/m^3$	micrograms per cubic meter		
mg	milligrams		
mg/m ³	milligrams per cubic meter		
min	minute		
MOA	mode of action		
n	number		
N/A	not applicable		
NAC	National Advisory Committee		
NOAEL	no-observed-adverse-effect-level		
PEFR	peak expiratory flow rate		
POD	point of departure		
POD _{ADJ}	point of departure adjusted for exposure duration		
PODHEC	point of departure adjusted for human equivalent concentration		
ppb	parts per billion		
ppm	parts per million		
ReV	reference value		
TCEQ	Texas Commission on Environmental Quality		
UF	uncertainty factor		
UF _H	interindividual or intraspecies human uncertainty factor		
UF _A	animal to human uncertainty factor		
UF _{Sub}	subchronic to chronic exposure uncertainty factor		

Ammonia Page vi

Abbreviation	Definition
UF_L	LOAEL to NOAEL uncertainty factor
UF _D	database uncertainty factor
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
VC	vital capacity

Chapter 1 Summary Tables

Table 1 for air monitoring and Table 2 for air permitting provide a summary of health- and welfare-based values resulting from an acute and chronic evaluation of ammonia. Please refer to Section 1.6.2 of *the TCEQ Guidelines to Develop Toxicity Factors* (TCEQ 2012) for an explanation of values used for review of ambient air monitoring data and air permitting. Table 3 provides summary information on ammonia's physical/chemical properties.

Table 1. Air Monitoring Comparison Values (AMCVs) for Ambient Air ^a

Short-Term Values	Concentration	Notes	
Acute ReV	590 μg/m³ (830 ppb) Short-Term Health	Critical Effect(s): Mild, transient upper respiratory symptoms and central nervous system (CNS) effects (eye discomfort, smell, headache, dizziness, and feelings of intoxication) in exposed human volunteers	
acute ESLodor	3600 μg/m ³ (5200 ppb) Odor	Sharp, pungent, repellent	
acuteESLveg	2000 µg/m³ (2800 ppb) Short-Term Vegetation	Critical Effect(s): Foliar damage in tomato plants	
Long-Term Values	Concentration	Notes	
Chronic ReV	320 μg/m³ (450 ppb) Long-Term Health	Critical Effect(s): Free-standing NOAEL for lack of significant differences in self-reported symptoms and/or measured lung function parameters in workers	
$\begin{array}{c} {\rm chronic} ESL_{threshold(c)} \\ {\rm chronic} ESL_{nonthreshold(c)} \end{array}$		Data are inadequate for an assessment of human carcinogenic potential	
chronicESLveg		Insufficient data	

^a Ammonia is not monitored for by the TCEQ's ambient air monitoring program, so currently no ambient air data (i.e., peaks, annual averages, trends, etc.) are available to assess ammonia concentrations in Texas ambient air

Table 2. Air Permitting Effects Screening Levels (ESLs)

Short-Term Values	Concentration	Notes	
acuteESL [1 h] (HQ = 0.3)	180 µg/m³ (250 ppb) a Short-Term ESL for Air Permit Reviews	Critical Effect: Mild, transient upper respiratory symptoms and central nervous system (CNS) effects (eye discomfort, smell, headache, dizziness, and feelings of intoxication) in exposed human volunteers	
acuteESLodor	3600 μg/m ³ (5200 ppb)	Sharp, pungent, repellent	
acuteESL _{veg}	2000 µg/m³ (2800 ppb) Short-Term Vegetation	Critical Effect(s): Foliar damage in tomato plants	
Long-Term Values	Concentration	Notes	
$\label{eq:chronic} \begin{split} & \mbox{chronic} ESL_{threshold(nc)} \\ & \mbox{(HQ} = 0.3) \end{split}$	92 µg/m³ (130 ppb) b Long-Term ESL for Air Permit Reviews	Critical Effect: Free-standing NOAEL for lack of significant differences in self-reported symptoms and/or measured lung function parameters in workers	
$\begin{array}{c} {\rm chronic} ESL_{threshold(c)} \\ {\rm chronic} ESL_{nonthreshold(c)} \end{array}$		Data are inadequate for an assessment of human carcinogenic potential	
$^{ m chronic}ESL_{ m veg}$		Insufficient Data	

 $[^]a$ Based on the acute ReV of 590 $\mu g/m^3$ (830 ppb) multiplied by 0.3 to account for cumulative and aggregate risk during the air permit review.

 $[^]b$ Based on the chronic ReV of 320 $\mu g/m^3$ (450 ppb) multiplied by 0.3 to account for cumulative and aggregate risk during the air permit review.

Table 3. Chemical and Physical Data

Parameter	Value	Reference	
Molecular Formula	NH ₃	ChemFinder (2008)	
Chemical Structure		ChemFinder (2008)	
	H N N H		
Molecular Weight	17.03	Hazardous Substances Databank (HSDB) (1998)	
Physical State at 25°C	Gas	HSDB (1998)	
Color	Colorless	HSDB (1998)	
Odor	Sharp, pungent, repellent	HSDB (1998)	
CAS Registry Number	7664-41-7	HSDB (1998)	
Synonyms	R 717, AM-Fol, ammonia gas, anhydrous ammonia, liquid ammonia, Nitro-sil, Spirit of hartshorn	HSDB (1998)	
Solubility in water	482,000 mg/L at 25°C	HSDB (1998)	
Log K _{ow}	0.23	HSDB (1998)	
Vapor Pressure	7510 mm Hg at 25°C	HSDB (1998)	
Relative Vapor Density (air = 1)	0.59	HSDB (1998)	
Melting Point	-77.7°C	HSDB (1998)	
Boiling Point	-33.3°C	HSDB (1998)	
Conversion Factors	1 μ g/m ³ = 1.414 ppb 1 ppb = 0.707 μ g/m ³	USEPA (2012)	

Chapter 2 Major Sources and Uses

Atmospheric ammonia is produced by both natural and anthropogenic sources. Natural, exogenous sources of ammonia in the environment include volatilization from the decomposition of organic matter and excreta by soil microbes and/or fungi, exhalation of endogenous ammonia, and volcanic eruptions. The National Atmospheric Deposition Program (NADP) estimates that approximately 85 percent of ammonia emissions in the United States was from livestock waste and commercial fertilizer application.

The majority (approximately 87%) of the over eight million metric tons of ammonia produced industrially in the United States in 2010 was used in fertilizer, but ammonia is also used in the manufacture of plastics, synthetic fibers, and explosives (USGS 2011). Ammonia is also a component of automobile exhaust and is a byproduct of three-way catalytic converters (Becker et al. 1999; Committee on the Environment and Natural Resources 2000). Anhydrous ammonia is used as a refrigerant in industrial applications. Therefore, potential sources of ammonia released to the environment can include deposition and/or run-off from usage of man-made fertilizer, accidental release during transport, or emissions and/or discharges from manufacturing facilities.

Sampling conducted in 2007 in the western New Mexico, western Colorado, and eastern Oklahoma areas indicated annual mean ambient air concentrations of ammonia range from 0.2 – 1.8 ppb, based on three-week integrated passive samples (Sather et al. 2008). Interestingly, Stilwell, Oklahoma (considered by the authors to be representative of rural, background levels) had the highest average concentration and second highest maximum concentration of the sampling locations, which included urban, power plant-impacted, oil/gas-impacted, and oil/gas/mobile-impacted representative areas. Currently, ammonia is not a targeted compound by the TCEQ's ambient air monitoring program, therefore, only ammonia data from targeted monitoring projects are available in Texas. There is one site of the NADP's ammonia gas monitoring network (AMoN), active since 2007, located in Randall County. Data from the AMoN are used to assess long-term national trends in ambient ammonia concentrations and to validate atmospheric models.

In the atmosphere, ammonia readily reacts with acidic compounds (sulfuric acid, nitric acid, nitrous acid, and hydrochloric acid) to form fine particulate ammonium salts (Krupa 2003). For this reason, ammonia is considered a fine particulate matter ($PM_{2.5}$) precursor. Ammonium salt formation is faster during the day and during the spring and summer months (Krupa 2003, Sather et al. 2008). The Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR 2004) estimates that the half-life for gaseous ammonia in the air is a few days. The Ontario Ministry of the Environment (2001) indicated the estimated residence time is between 5 and 10 days, while a review by Krupa (2003) indicated the residence time was up to four days, depending on season.

Ammonia is one of the approximately 1000 volatile compounds that can be detected in human breath (Hibbard and Killard 2011). It is a product of amino acid and protein metabolism and as such is endogenously produced in humans and many other animals. In healthy human adults, an

average level of ammonia in breath ranges between approximately 265 ppb to 1 ppm (Hibbard and Killard 2011, Lewicki et al. 2005). However, with liver and/or kidney dysfunction, ammonia in blood may not be filtered properly and levels of ammonia in breath could be higher. The increased ammonia levels due to liver dysfunction may cause hyperammonemia (excess ammonia in the blood) to develop which could result in hepatic encephalopathy (symptoms may include confusion, drowsiness, and disorientation). With kidney dysfunction, conditions such as uremia, acidosis, and edema may develop. Any excess ammonia not filtered out of the body can diffuse into the lungs and be exhaled (Hibbard and Killard 2011). Thus, measurement of ammonia in breath can be a useful noninvasive diagnostic tool in detecting liver and/or kidney disease. Rapid and accurate methods for measuring ammonia in breath are being developed.

Although not significant to ambient levels, elevated personal exposures to ammonia can also occur in cigarette smoke and household cleaning solutions (ATSDR 2004; Fedoruk et al. 2005; Medina-Ramon 2005; WHO 1986; Willems et al. 2006). Ammonia has been measured inside beauty salons at concentrations ranging from 0.21 to 1.23 ppb with higher concentrations measured near the use of permanent wave solution (Oikawa et al. 2012)

Chapter 3 Acute Evaluation

3.1 Health-Based Acute ReV and acute ESL

The present evaluation of ammonia toxicity is based primarily on the Acute Exposure Guideline Levels (AEGL) assessment document (NRC 2008), ATSDR's toxicological profile (2004), and a review of scientific literature since 2000. The available studies (occupational and experimental) indicate that acute exposure to low to moderate concentrations of ammonia (less than 100 ppm) can cause sensory irritation (discomfort in the eyes and/or nose) in humans, but are not related to functional respiratory deficits. In general, the acute health effects reported in animals following short-term inhalation of ammonia include oral, nasal and eye irritation, respiratory tract irritation, decreased respiratory rate, increased respiratory depth, reduced body weight, and lethargy. In humans, the health effects of acute exposure are similar to those reported in animals and include oral, nasal and eye irritation, respiratory tract irritation, and increased respiratory depth (Alberta Environment 2004). Tissues and organs distant from the entry point do not experience toxic effects at levels < 150 ppm) because of the scrubbing mechanism of the nasopharyngeal region (Silverman et al. 1949). Ammonia is highly water soluble and as such readily dissolves in the mucous membrane layer of the cornea and upper airway. This "scrubbing" protects the lower respiratory tract and was shown to be concentration and time dependent (Silverman et al. 1949). Ninety one to 93% of ammonia at concentrations up to 429 ppm in humans exposed via inhalation in one breath was retained in the respiratory tract (Landahl and Herrmann 1950). However, if ammonia adsorbs to respirable dust (measured as particulate matter or PM), ammonia can penetrate deeper into the lungs (Alberta Environment 2004).

3.1.1 Physical/Chemical Properties

Ammonia is a colorless gas with a pungent, irritating odor. It is both highly water soluble and reactive. The main physical/chemical properties are summarized in Table 3.

3.1.2 Key and Supporting Studies

3.1.2.1 Human Studies

3.1.2.1.1 Key Study (Sundblad et al. 2004)

Sundblad et al. (2004) exposed 12 volunteers (seven women and five men aged 21-28 years) to either clean air, 5, or 25 ppm ammonia for 3 hours (h) in a 20-m³ stainless steel exposure chamber. None of the volunteers reported a history of airway diseases. Exposure sessions included resting and bicycle exercising periods, which were rotated every 30 minutes (min) during the 3-h session. Exposure sessions were repeated on three occasions with a 1-week resting period between sessions.

Lung function was assessed by measuring vital capacity (VC) and forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) one week prior to the first exposure and 7 h after exposure. Peak expiratory flow rate (PEFR) was also measured before exposure, immediately after exposure, and seven h after exposure. In addition, in order to determine whether exposure to ammonia altered bronchial responsiveness, volunteers were subjected to a methacholine provocation test. None of the lung function or bronchial responsiveness parameters from either of the exposed groups was statistically significantly different from the control group. Similarly, no treatment-related changes were noted in any of the assessments of inflammatory response (i.e., nasal lavage fluid, blood, and exhaled nitric oxide) collected approximately 30 min before exposure and seven h after exposure.

Volunteers were also given a standardized questionnaire to rate their level of discomfort (eye, nose, and throat or airway discomfort, difficulty breathing, solvent smell, headache, fatigue, nausea, dizziness, and feelings of intoxication) at regular intervals throughout the exposure session (immediately before exposure, during, and after exposure). Volunteers rated their discomfort on a Visual Analogue Scale, in which volunteers mark a vertical line on a 0-100 mm long horizontal line. The authors provided descriptors to marks on the scale for ease in evaluation, shown in Table 4.

Table 4 Visual Analogue Scale Ratings (Sundblad et al. 2004)

Visual Analogue Scale Rating (mm)	Description of Discomfort Level	
0	Not at all	
6	Hardly at all	
26	Somewhat	
48	Rather	
72	Quite	
90	Very	
100	Almost unbearable	

A statistically significant increase in symptom rating was identified for each of the ten symptoms at the 25 ppm ammonia exposure concentration as compared to the control group. Likewise, there was a statistically significant increase in symptom ratings for eye discomfort, solvent smell, headache, dizziness, and feelings of intoxication at the 5 ppm ammonia exposure concentration as compared to the control group. Irritation and central nervous system (CNS) symptoms during exposure did not exceed a "rather" rating on a scale of discomfort level. Some effects observed in this study could be odor-related as the the ^{acute}ESL_{odor} is 5.2 ppm (See Section 3.2.1). Based on the transient symptoms of eye discomfort, headache, dizziness, and feelings of intoxication, the 5 ppm dose was treated as a *minimal* lowest observable adverse effect level (LOAEL) in this analysis.

3.1.2.1.2 Supporting Study (Verberk 1977)

Verberk (1977) conducted an acute exposure study with 16 volunteers (eight volunteers knew the effects of ammonia from the literature (experts) and eight volunteers not familiar with ammonia (non-experts). All volunteers were exposed to 50, 80, 110, and 140 ppm gaseous ammonia in a resting state over a 2-h period in a 25-m³ exposure chamber with a one-week recovery period between exposure sessions. No control group was used in this study. Subjective responses, such as smell, taste, eye irritation, nose irritation, throat irritation, chest irritation, urge to cough, headache, and general discomfort were recorded every 15 min throughout the exposure session. Lung function parameters (VC, FEV₁, and forced inspiratory volume in one second) were measured immediately before entering and after exiting the exposure chamber. Finally, 13 of the 16 volunteers participated in a histamine response experiment a few weeks after the ammonia exposure experiment to determine if the volunteers exhibited hypersensitivity to stimuli.

None of the lung function parameters were significantly depressed following exposure to any of the concentrations of ammonia used in this study. In addition, none of the tested volunteers exhibited any hyper-responsiveness to histamine. At the lowest concentration tested (50 ppm), half of the volunteers indicated subjective symptoms of irritation at or above a nuisance level.

Unfortunately, because no control group was used in this study and there was no statistical analysis of the subjective responses recorded by the volunteers during the exposure sessions, subjective responses can only be used qualitatively. Therefore, a LOAEL of 50 ppm for irritation was identified from this study. The authors noted that subjective responses were more pronounced in the non-expert group of volunteers than in the expert group. Verberk et al. (1977) was used by ATSDR for the derivation of the acute inhalation minimum risk level (ATSDR 2004).

3.1.2.1.3 Sigurdarson et al. (2004)

Sigurdarson et al. (2004) exposed six healthy volunteers and eight mild, intermittent asthmatics to 16 to 20 ppm ammonia and/or 4 mg/m3 grain dust aerosol for 30 min in an exposure chamber. Participants wore nose clips during exposures to ensure mouth breathing. Exposure to ammonia alone did not induce statistically or clinically significant changes in FEV1 or bronchial hyperreactivity in either the asthmatics or healthy volunteers. Exposure to grain dust induced changes in the asthmatics (transient decrease in FEV1 and increased bronchial hyperreactivity), but coexposure to ammonia did not enhance these effects.

3.1.2.1.4 Petrova et al. (2008)

Petrova et al. (2008) exposed 25 healthy volunteers and 15 mild to moderate asthmatics to one of 20 nominal ammonia concentrations of between 2 to 500 ppm via a nasal cannula and/or goggles for a maximum duration of five min. Participants were simultaneously exposed to clean air in one side of the cannula/goggles and the specified concentration of ammonia in the other and asked to identify which nostril/eye had been exposed to the ammonia. According to the authors, this lateralization method used to determine sensory irritation thresholds was designed because the trigeminal system in the eyes and nasal mucosa can provide spatial localization information, whereas the olfactory system cannot. Exposures lasted from 10 to 30 seconds, participants were given between 15 to 60 min rest in between exposures, and up to three exposures occurred in a single day. Ocular irritation thresholds for ammonia detection were 133 ppm (asthmatics) and 127 ppm (healthy controls). Nasal irritation thresholds for ammonia detection were 167 ppm (asthmatics) and 179 ppm (healthy controls). The authors concluded that the irritation thresholds did not differ between asthmatic and healthy volunteers in the ocular, nasal, or combined exposure conditions. In addition, asthmatics and healthy volunteers were statistically similar in their rating of odor, irritation, or annoyance to the ammonia exposures (all ratings were between weak and moderate). Finally, spirometry results retrieved during various parts of the study in asthmatics and a subset of healthy volunteers revealed no decreases greater than 5% in FEV1

3.1.2.1.5 Other Supporting Studies

An unpublished study conducted by MacEwen et al. (1970) has been used by NRC (2008) and California Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA) (1999) to derive risk-based values (AEGL-1 for non-disabling effects and acute Reference Exposure Level (REL), respectively). In addition, CalEPA (1999) combined exposure concentrations adjusted for 1-hr exposure duration

Ammonia Page 9

from four studies using benchmark dose modeling. In addition to MacEwen et al. (1970), exposure concentrations from the Industrial Bio-Test Laboratories (1973) (unpublished), Silverman et al. (1949), and Verberk (1977) were used by CalEPA to derive the acute REL in 1999. The TCEQ was unable to obtain copies of MacEwen et al. (1970) and Industrial Bio-Test Laboratories (1973) and therefore did not include them in this derivation process. However, conclusions from these studies as cited in NRC (2008) are included below.

MacEwen et al. (1970) exposed six human volunteers (head only) to 30 and 50 ppm ammonia for 10 min. Volunteers were asked to subjectively rate odor and irritation to the nose and eyes on a five point scale. When exposed to 30 ppm, three volunteers reported that the odor was strong or highly penetrating and two volunteers reported the odor was easily noticeable or moderate. With regard to irritation, two volunteers reported faint irritation and three volunteers did not detect irritation. One volunteer did not respond. At 50 ppm, four volunteers indicated moderate irritation. One volunteer indicated faint or just perceptible irritation and one volunteer did not detect irritation. Odor was reported as strong or highly penetrating for all volunteers. Based on the discussion in NRC (2008) a control group was not used in this study. The LOAEL of 30 ppm was used for development of the AEGL-1.

The Industrial Bio-Test Laboratories (1973) exposed ten human volunteers to ammonia at 32, 50, 72, or 134 ppm for five min. Volunteers indicated whether they experienced nasal dryness, lacrimation, and irritation of the nose, eye, throat, and chest. The NRC (2008) summary indicated severity of effects was also documented, though this information was not detailed in the NRC document. One volunteer reported experiencing dryness of the nose at 32 ppm. Two volunteers reported experiencing nasal dryness at 50 ppm. At an exposure concentration of 72 ppm ammonia, two volunteers reported nasal irritation, three reported eye irritation, and three reported throat irritation. Nasal, eye, throat, and chest irritation and lacrimation was reported from several volunteers following exposure to 134 ppm. The CalEPA (1999) acute toxicity summary indicates that the authors "discounted the significance of nasal dryness reported at the two lowest levels," though this statement was not included in the NRC (2008) summary.

Ferguson et al. (1977) exposed six healthy, previously unaccustomed male and female workers to ammonia at 25, 50, and 100 ppm for 6 h per day, five days a week, over five weeks. Irritation, pulse, pulmonary function, and other biological responses were recorded twice daily by the workers and a physician. According to the authors, the physician noted less mild eye, nose, or throat irritation in the workers during the second week than the first week. In addition, the authors report that the workers "were not aware of the irritation [mild eye, nose, or throat irritation] noted by the physician and suffered no discomfort as a result of exposures up to 100 ppm after the first week." All other testing showed no significant differences between exposed volunteers and controls.

3.1.2.2 Animal Studies

3.1.2.2.1 Upper Respiratory Tract Studies

Studies in mice, rats, cats, pigs, and rabbits indicate that the upper respiratory tract is the target organ for short-term exposure to ammonia at concentrations below 1000 ppm (ATSDR 2004, NIWL 2005). However, animal studies were not considered for the derivation of the acute ReV and ^{acute}ESL because adequate human studies were available and are preferred over animal studies. Therefore, this document focuses on relevant human studies (see above). Please refer to ATSDR (2004) for a discussion of short-term animal inhalation studies.

3.1.2.2.1 Reproductive/Developmental Studies

Since ammonia is efficiently scrubbed in the upper airways, significant systemic accumulation does not occur. Minimal increases in blood ammonia concentration were observed after exposure to gaseous ammonia at concentrations up to 1000 ppm for 24 h in rats (Schaerdel et al., 1989 as cited in US EPA 1998). In addition, Silverman et al. (1949) calculated that seven humans exposed to 500 ppm ammonia (six for 30 min exposure and one for 15 min) had exhaled 70 to 80% of the ammonia (reported concentrations were between 350 and 400 ppm in breath) after reaching equilibrium within 30 min. After cessation of exposure, exhaled breath concentrations returned to pre-exposure concentrations within three to eight min. Therefore, because of the limited uptake in both humans and animals, developmental effects would not be expected to occur.

No statistically significant differences were noted in ovarian or uterine weights of pigs exposed to about 7 or 35 ppm ammonia for 6 weeks (Diekman et al. 1993, as cited in ATSDR 2007). Female pigs that were continuously exposed to about 35 ppm ammonia from 6 weeks before breeding until day 30 of gestation had no statistically significant differences in age at puberty, number of live fetuses, or fetus-to-corpus luteum ratio compared to pigs exposed to only about 7 ppm (Diekman et al. 1993). (ATSDR 2007)

3.1.3 Mode of Action (MOA) and Dose Metric

Because of its high reactivity and water solubility, ammonia is an upper respiratory irritant at lower concentrations, but may cause severe lower respiratory effects at higher concentrations, such as those that occur in occupational accidents, when the scrubbing mechanism of the nasopharyngeal region is saturated. Injury to respiratory tissues is primarily due to ammonia's alkaline (i.e., caustic) properties and it will form ammonium ion (NH⁴⁺) and/or ammonium hydroxide (NH₄OH) upon contact with water or mucosa, often resulting in thermal and/or chemical burns of the epithelial tissue of the eyes, mouth, and respiratory tract. Ammonia directly denatures tissue proteins and causes saponification of cell membrane lipids, which leads to cell disruption and death (EPA 2012). The breakdown of proteins in turn results in an inflammatory response which further damages surrounding tissue (EPA 2012).

Page 11

Ammonia concentrations in the blood remain stable after inhalation exposure in humans to very high concentrations of ammonia, indicating a lack of absorption from the respiratory tract (NRC 2008). Animal studies have shown that inhalation of ammonia increases the level of ammonia in blood (NRC 2008). Studies by Sigurdarson et al. (2004) and Petrova et al. (2008) collectively indicate that asthmatics are not more sensitive to the irritant effect of ammonia.

Because adverse effects due to ammonia exposure (e.g., ammonia-induced irritation effects) are typically concentration-dependent, air ammonia concentration will be used as the dose metric.

3.1.4 Point of Departure (POD) for Key Study and Critical Effect

The LOAELs for the key Sundblad et al. (2004) study and supporting Verberk (1977) study are 5 ppm and 50 ppm, respectively, with the LOAEL of 5 ppm from the key study conservatively selected as the POD. The critical effects observed at the LOAEL of 5 ppm were eye discomfort, solvent smell, headache, dizziness, and feelings of intoxication. Since Sundblad et al. (2004) is a human study, the POD of 5 ppm is the same as the POD_{HEC}.

3.1.5 Dosimetric Adjustments

Exposure concentration, and not exposure duration, appears to determine ammonia's acute local irritation effects (NRC 2008; ATSDR 2004). Therefore, no exposure duration adjustment was deemed necessary. The adjusted point of departure (POD_{HEC-ADJ}) for the key study is 5 ppm.

3.1.6 Adjustments of the POD_{HEC}

Due to ammonia's nonlinear MOA, uncertainty factors (UFs) were applied to the POD for the key study consistent with TCEQ guidance (TCEQ 2012). UFs for intrahuman variability (UF_H), LOAEL-to-NOAEL uncertainty (UF_L), and database uncertainty (UF_D) applied to the POD_{HEC} from the key study are described below.

- A UF_H of 3 was applied to account for sensitive members of the population. A higher UF_H was not applied because short-term studies indicate that asthmatics, have similar sensitivities to the irritant effects of ammonia as healthy individuals (Sigurdarson et al. 2004 and Petrova et al. 2008).
- Because the key study involved human subjects, a UF_A was not applicable.
- A UF_L of 2 was applied because the effects experienced by exercising human volunteers in this study were mild and transient local irritant effects and the minimal LOAEL selected was well below that identified in other similar studies.
- A UF_D of 1 was applied because there was high database confidence. Although data on systemic endpoints, including reproductive and developmental data, are minimal, the UF_D is not higher because ammonia is efficiently removed by the upper airway at lower and closer to more environmentally relevant concentrations (e.g., minimal increases in blood ammonia concentration were observed after exposure to gaseous ammonia at

Ammonia

Page 12

concentrations up to 1,000 ppm for 24 h in rats (Schaerdel et al. 1989) and humans exhaled between 350 to 400 ppm of the inhaled 500 ppm exposure concentration in breath after 30 min of exposure (Silverman et al. 1949)).

The UFs were applied to the POD from the key study to calculate the acute ReV (Table 5).

```
acute ReV = POD<sub>HEC</sub> / (UF<sub>H</sub> x UF<sub>L</sub> x UF<sub>D</sub>)
= 5 ppm / (3 x 2 x 1)
= 5 ppm / 6
= 0.833 ppm
```

Once the ReV was calculated, it was rounded to two significant figures to result in an acute ReV of 830 ppb (590 μ g/m³).

3.1.7 Health-Based Acute ReV and acuteESL

The acute ReV of 830 ppb from the key study was multiplied by the target hazard quotient of 0.3 to produce the ^{acute}ESL of 250 ppb (180 μ g/m³) (Table 5).

Table 5 Derivation of the Acute ReV and acute ESL

Parameter	Values and Descriptions
Study	Sundblad et al. (2004)
Study Population	12 healthy volunteers (seven women and five men) in 30-min alternating exercising and resting states
Study Quality	Medium
Exposure Methods	3-h inhalation exposure in a 20-m³ stainless steel exposure chamber to 0, 5, or 25 ppm ammonia
POD _{HEC}	5 ppm (minimal LOAEL)
Critical Effects	Mild, transient upper respiratory symptoms and CNS effects (eye discomfort, smell, headache, dizziness, and feelings of intoxication)
Exposure Duration	3 h
Extrapolation to 1 h	No adjustment made; effects are concentration-dependent
PODHEC ADJ (1 h)	5 ppm
Total UFs	6
Interspecies UF	NA
Intraspecies UF	3
LOAEL UF	2
Incomplete Database UF Database Quality	1 High
acute ReV [1 h] (HQ = 1)	590 μg/m ³ (830 ppb)
acuteESL [1 h] (HQ = 0.3)	180 μg/m³ (250 ppb)

3.2. Welfare-Based Acute ESLs

3.2.1 Odor Perception

Ammonia has a pungent, irritating odor with a wide odor detection threshold range of 43 to 53,000 ppb. Leonardos et al. (1969) reported a 100% odor detection threshold of 46,800 ppb ammonia. Smeets et al. (2007) reported a mean odor detection threshold of 2600 ppb ammonia in female volunteers using the European standard CEN 13725 dynamic olfactometry. Nagata

Ammonia Page 14

(2003) reported a 50% odor detection threshold of 1500 ppb using the triangular bag method. Van Doorn (2002) reported odor thresholds using three different methods: the NVN2820 compatible method (1590 ppb), the 1988 TNO method from the Netherlands (1070 ppb), and the Japan method (150 ppb). Additionally, the American Industrial Hygiene Association (AIHA 1989) reported the geometric mean of the range of reported values to be 17,000 ppb ammonia.

Based on an evidence integration approach and historical information, the $^{acute}ESL_{odor}$ is 3600 $\mu g/m^3$ (5200 ppb) (TCEQ 2015). Because odor is a concentration-dependent effect, the same 1-h $^{acute}ESL_{odor}$ can be assigned to all averaging times for monitoring and modeling samples.

3.2.2 Vegetative Effects

Ammonia is naturally-occurring in the atmosphere and is used by plants as a source of nitrogen. Depending on the ambient air concentration of ammonia, plants can either absorb ammonia or be an emitter of ammonia. Farquhar et al. (1980) determined that young plants emit ammonia below ambient concentrations of between $1-4~\mu g/m^3$ and will absorb ammonia when ambient concentrations rise above $4~\mu g/m^3$. Atmospheric ammonia enters the plant almost exclusively through the stomata of the leaves (Van Hove et al., 1987a, as cited in Krupa 2003). It is quickly dissolved and converted to ammonium (NH₄⁺) in the plant.

Krupa (2003) conducted an extensive literature review of plant toxicity studies which serves as the basis for the following evaluation. At very high concentrations, ammonia can cause direct toxic effects on plants by leaf etching. Several European studies have documented foliar damage in trees, including yellowing needles and needle necrosis in conifers, near large livestock farms. However, because gaseous ammonia can provide nitrogen that is necessary for plant growth, studies have shown enhanced growth after exposure to lower concentrations. Indeed, it is only after the plant's ability to assimilate ammonia into organic nitrogen compounds has been overwhelmed that plant toxicity is evident. The point at which the assimilation capacity of the plant is overwhelmed can fluctuate based on several internal and external factors, including seasonal changes in availability of light and temperature. Krupa (2003) noted that, in general, native vegetation, including mosses, lichens, mountain tobacco and some flowering plants (petunias), are more sensitive to the effects of ammonia than forests, which are more sensitive than agricultural plants. However, according to the TCEQ (2012) Guidelines, evaluation of adverse vegetative effects for the purpose of this DSD should be focused on native plants and/or plants of agricultural importance grown in Texas.

Therefore, the key study for the derivation of a short-term vegetative-based ESL was Van der Eerden (1982). Tomato plants (*Lycopersicon esculentum*) were exposed to 2800 ppb (2000 µg/m³) ammonia for 24 h in indoor controlled environmental chambers. Tomatoes that were exposed to ammonia in the dark (thus limiting photosynthetic ability) displayed increased foliar injury to ammonia than plants that were exposed to ammonia in the presence of light. The author determined that ammonia inhibited photosynthetic phosphorylation, which decreased

carbohydrate production and growth. This was compounded by the lack of photosynthesis due to the dark fumigation conditions.

The key study is supported by subacute studies conducted by Hulsenberg (1990), as cited in Krupa (2003). Hulsenberg (1990) noted that cucumbers (*Cucumis sativus*) exposed to 2800 ppb (2000 μ g/m³) ammonia for 30 days in closed field chambers exhibited over 50% more brownish discoloration in the leaves than controls. In addition, both lettuce (*Lactuca sativa var. capitata*) and spinach (*Spinacia oleracea*) exposed in closed field containers to 7100 ppb (5000 μ g/m³) ammonia for 14 days exhibited over 50% more chlorotic leaves than controls.

According to the TCEQ Guidelines, acute ESL_{veg} is set at a threshold concentration for adverse effects (TCEQ 2012). Therefore, the acute ESL_{veg} is set at 2800 ppb, a lowest-observed-effect-level (LOEL) identified by Van der Eerden (1982) for tomato plants.

3.3. Short-Term ESL and Values for Air Monitoring Evaluation

The acute evaluation resulted in the derivation of the following values:

```
 \begin{array}{l} acute \; ReV = 590 \; \mu g/m^3 \; (830 \; ppb) \\ acute ESL = 180 \; \mu g/m^3 \; (250 \; ppb) \\ acute ESL_{odor} = 3600 \; \mu g/m^3 \; (5200 \; ppb) \\ acute ESL_{veg} = 2000 \; \mu g/m^3 \; (2800 \; ppb) \end{array}
```

The short-term ESL for air permit evaluations is the $^{acute}ESL$ of 180 $\mu g/m^3$ (250 ppb) (Table 2). Although we do not currently monitor for ammonia, the ReV of 590 $\mu g/m^3$ (830 ppb) is lower than both the $^{acute}ESL_{odor}$ of 3600 $\mu g/m^3$ (5200 ppb) and the $^{acute}ESL_{veg}$ of 2000 $\mu g/m^3$ (2800 ppb) (Table 1).

3.3 Acute Inhalation Observed Adverse Effect Levels (OAELs)

In regard to acute inhalation OAELs in Section 3.13 of TCEQ's Guidelines to Develop Toxicity Factors (2012), as the lowest human LOAEL for minimal effects including mild, transient upper respiratory symptoms and central nervous system (CNS) effects (eye discomfort, smell, headache, dizziness, and feelings of intoxication) was 5 ppm at an exposure duration of 3 h. This level is the considered the lowest concentration where such effects could be expected to occur in some members of the population exposed for a sufficient duration. In the supporting study, eye, nose, and throat irritation was reported in human volunteers exposed to 50 ppm for 2 h. Adverse effects are not a certainty at this concentration and duration, although depending upon the sensitivities of the study population relative to those exposed environmentally, other subpopulations could be more sensitive.

Chapter 4 Chronic Evaluation

4.1 Noncarcinogenic Potential

Few studies have been conducted on the effect of long-term exposure to ammonia at low concentrations. Ammonia is an upper respiratory tract irritant in humans. Symptoms including cough, chest tightness, stuffy/runny nose, sneezing, phlegm, wheezing, dyspnea, chronic bronchitis, and asthma, have been reported in studies of workers exposed to ammonia (Rahman et al. 2007, Ballal et al. 1998). Several studies were identified which noted various respiratory illnesses (e.g., restrictive lung disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, bronchiectasis) as sequelae following acute exposures to very high concentrations of ammonia, typically in occupational or industrial accidents (Brautbar et al. 2003; de la Hoz et al. 1996; NRC 2008). Animal studies also show that repeated exposure to ammonia can affect the respiratory tract.

In addition to irritation effects noted as a result of both short- and long-term ammonia exposure, studies have shown acclimation effects in humans exposed to ammonia. Ferguson et al. (1977) exposed six healthy, previously unaccustomed male and female workers to ammonia at 25, 50, and 100 ppm for 6 h per day, five days a week, over five weeks. Irritation, pulse, pulmonary function, and other biological responses were recorded twice daily by the workers and a physician. According to the authors, the physician noted less mild eye, nose, or throat irritation in the workers during the second week and subsequent weeks, than the first week.

Similarly, Ihrig et al. (2006) exposed 43 healthy male volunteers (10 previously exposed to ammonia and 33 naïve workers) to 0, 10, 20, 20 with two 30-min peak exposures of 40 and 50 ppm ammonia for 4 h over five consecutive days in an exposure chamber. In general, previously exposed workers reported fewer symptoms than the naïve workers. The differences between previously exposed and naïve workers were only statistically significant with regard to olfactory symptoms, not respiratory or irritant symptoms.

Due to the decrease in awareness of irritation following acclimation to the irritant effects of ammonia, it is possible that acclimatized individuals would be more susceptible to pulmonary disease. However, because a study of sufficient quality in occupationally exposed workers is available and the study provides a NOAEL, the added susceptibility of acclimatized persons is most likely accounted for in the derivation of the chronic ReV by the application of the intrahuman, UF_H. This is also supported by occupational studies discussed in Section 4.1.1.3.

4.1.1 Physical/Chemical Properties and Key Studies

4.1.1.1 Physical/Chemical Properties

Physical/chemical properties of ammonia are discussed in Chapter 3. Because of ammonia's high reactivity and water solubility, it is anticipated to primarily cause portal-of-entry respiratory effects.

4.1.1.2 Key Study (Holness et al. 1989)

Holness et al. (1989) conducted a cross-sectional occupational exposure study to determine effects of ammonia on 58 workers who had chronic exposure to ammonia compared with 31 control workers (from stores and office areas of the plant) in a soda ash plant in Canada. All workers were male and were exposed to ammonia in the production of sodium carbonate (soda ash). Study participants had an average of 12.2 years of exposure. Air samples collected near the worker's collar over an average period of 8.4 h (one work shift) demonstrated a mean time weighted average (TWA) of 9.2 ppm ammonia in the exposed group and 0.3 ppm ammonia in the control group. The exposed workers were also grouped into three exposure categories of high (≥12.5 ppm), medium (6.25-12.5 ppm), and low (<6.25 ppm). The authors stated that it was not possible to estimate each individual's exposure over his working lifetime. Instead, they created an exposure index by multiplying personal ammonia results obtained by the authors by years of exposure. The resulting exposure index was used in a regression analysis with baseline lung function parameters.

Each volunteer was given a questionnaire to determine work and medical history. No statistically significant difference in age, height, weight, years at the plant, cigarette smoking habits, or self-reported medical symptoms (e.g., flu, cough, sputum, chronic bronchitis, wheeze, chest tightness, dyspnea, chest pain, rhinitis, eye complaints, throat, or skin rash) was evident between the exposed and control volunteers. Though not statistically significant, workers in the exposed group reported exacerbated symptoms, including cough, wheeze, nasal complaints, eye irritation, and throat discomfort, due to working in the plant. Forced vital capacity (FVC), FEV₁, and forced expiratory flow rates at 50% and 75% of the vital capacity were measured by spirometry on the first and last day of the worker's work week. There was no statistically significant difference in lung function parameters before and after the work shift of the exposure group. Similarly, no dose-dependent trend was evident when comparing the control group to the exposure group. The workers, grouped into three exposure categories, experienced no exposure-related differences, including symptoms, decline in baseline lung function, or increasing declines in lung function over the work shift. No relationship between chronic exposure and lung function parameters was demonstrated.

Because no significant relationship was determined between ammonia exposure and self-reported symptoms and/or the measured lung function parameters, a free-standing NOAEL of 12.5 ppm from the high exposure group (8.8 mg/m³) was identified for this study. A LOAEL was not identified for this study. Holness et al. (1989) was also used as the key study in the derivation of the USEPA's recent draft chronic inhalation reference value and Ontario Ministry of the Environment's 24-h air quality standard (USEPA 2012 and OMOE 2001).

4.1.1.3 Other Studies

Other limited occupational exposure studies are available, but are not of sufficient quality to use in the derivation of the chronic ReV. These studies are included as a qualitative comparison to the key study.

Ballal et al. (1998) examined the prevalence of respiratory symptoms and disease in 161 male workers and 355 control male workers in two urea fertilizer factories in Saudi Arabia. Volunteers completed a respiratory symptom questionnaire based on a British Medical Research Council questionnaire. The geometric mean of three 8-h air samples collected close to the workers' stations in Factories A and B (a total of 97 air samples from both facilities) was considered representative of concentrations since production at the facilities began in 1983 (Factory A) and 1988 (Factory B). Ammonia concentrations ranged from $2.0 - 130.4 \text{ mg/m}^3$ (2.8 - 184.1 ppm) in Factory A and from $0.02 - 7.0 \text{ mg/m}^3 (0.03 - 9.9 \text{ ppm})$ in Factory B. The highest geometric mean ammonia concentrations (115.1 mg/m³ and 18.6 mg/m³ or 162.5 ppm and 26.3 ppm) were noted in the urea store and packing area of Factory A, respectively. The authors noted that workers in these areas were required to have "full protective clothing," but it was not made clear what impact this clothing would have on their actual exposure. Taking into account smoking habits, none of the relative risks for respiratory symptoms (cough, phlegm, wheezing, dyspnea) were statistically significantly different from controls for Factory B workers. Hemoptysis (coughing up blood) was only noted in workers where ammonia levels were high (concentrations not provided) and there was a higher prevalence rate in Factory A workers than in Factory B workers. Analysis of the calculated cumulative ammonia concentration (mg/m³-years) indicated significant relative risks for cough, phlegm, wheezing, dyspnea, chronic bronchitis, and bronchial asthma for those workers exposed to concentrations above 18 mg/m³ (the ACGIH TLV). In addition, a cumulative ammonia concentration of more than 50 mg/m³-years was associated with significant relative risks for all respiratory symptoms, including bronchial asthma and chronic bronchitis.

The authors also noted that current smokers in Factory A were significantly more frequently diagnosed with chronic bronchitis or bronchial asthma than controls, suggesting a possible interaction between cigarette smoke and ammonia exposure. Logistic regression analysis indicated ammonia concentration was significantly related to cough, phlegm, wheezing with or without shortness of breath, and asthma. Because exposures to ammonia and coexposures to cigarette smoking and other pollutants were not fully characterized, this study was not used for derivation of the chronic ReV. However, the NOAEL identified from the Holness et al. (1989) study is much lower than the levels discussed in Ballal et al. (1998). Inadequate reporting of exposure concentrations precludes the identification of NOAEL or LOAEL values. It is believed that values identified from the key study will be protective of potential adverse effects suggested by this study.

Rahman et al. (2007) conducted a cross-sectional study of 88 workers in two fertilizer factories in Bangladesh. Twenty-five staff from the administration building were used as the subjects for the control group. Because one objective of the study was to determine the best method for monitoring ammonia, two types of personal samplers were attached to workers' breathing zones during the day shift to measure ammonia concentrations. Average ammonia concentrations for a shift were driven by short peaks of up to 200 ppm, which tended to skew the results. The authors concluded that the exposure methods could not be validated and should be used with caution.

Participants completed two questionnaires, which documented complaints of respiratory disease, occupational history, smoking status, demographic data, and use of protective devices. In addition, lung function via forced vital capacity (FVC), forced expiratory volume at timed intervals of 1 sec (FEV₁), and peak expiratory flow rate (PEFR) were recorded before and after the shift in exposed workers (controls were not tested). The authors noted that chest tightness was significantly higher among workers in the urea plant than in administration workers, even when current smokers and workers with previous respiratory diseases were excluded from the analysis. The authors also noted that each year of work in a production section was associated with a decrease in cross-shift change in FEV₁ of 0.6%. Because of difficulties in determining exposure concentrations, a clear dose-response, or chronic reports of health symptoms other than pulmonary effects which are likely not the most sensitive endpoint, the Rhaman et al. (2007) study was not used in the derivation of the chronic ReV. Values derived using the Holness et al. (1989) study are anticipated to be protective of symptoms identified in Rahman et al. (2007) because the exposure concentrations and POD from the Holness study were much lower.

4.1.2 MOA and Dose Metric

Limited data exist to establish the MOA by which ammonia may produce noncarcinogenic effects (e.g., change in lung function parameters) following chronic exposure. However, the MOA can be anticipated to be similar to the acute MOA discussed in Section 3.1.3. and portal of entry irritation effects, followed by tracheobronchial and pulmonary effects once the scrubbing mechanism has been overwhelmed (NRC 2008).

For the key study, data on ammonia air concentrations for occupationally exposed workers are available and, therefore, are the most appropriate (and only) dose metric for the chronic noncarcinogenic evaluation.

4.1.3 POD for Key Study and Critical Effect

The POD for the Holness et al. (1989) key study is the NOAEL of 12500 ppb (8837.5 μ g/m³). Since this study is an occupational study, the POD is the POD_{HEC}. The critical effect was the absence of exposure-related differences in lung function.

4.1.4 Dosimetric Adjustment

The TCEQ adjusted the noncontinuous occupational exposure in the key study to account for continuous chronic exposure using the following default equation.

```
POD_{HEC\text{-}ADJ} = POD_{OC} \ x \ (VE_{HO}/VE_{H}) \ x \ [(days/week_{OC}) \ / \ (days/week_{res})] where:
```

 VE_{HO} = occupational ventilation rate for an 8-h day (10 m³/day) VE_{H} = non-occupational ventilation rate for a 24-h day (20 m³/day) days/week_{OC} = occupational exposure frequency (5 days)

 $days/week_{res} = residential exposure frequency (7 days)$

 $POD_{HEC-ADJ} = 12500 \text{ ppb x } [10 \text{ m}^3/\text{day}/20 \text{ m}^3/\text{day}] \text{ x } [5 \text{ day}/7 \text{ day}] = 4464 \text{ ppb}$

4.1.5 Adjustments of the POD_{HEC}

Respiratory effects in humans caused by ammonia are considered to have a threshold (i.e., a nonlinear MOA). Therefore, UFs were applied to the POD_{HEC-ADJ} of the key study. UFs for UF_H, UF_A, UF_L, subchronic-to chronic (UF_{Sub}) and UF_D that are applied are described below.

- A UF_H of 10 was applied to account for members of the population that may be sensitive
 to respiratory effects or have preexisting respiratory disease. In addition, people with liver
 or kidney disease or other conditions that result in hyperammonemia (increased ammonia
 levels) may be more susceptible to external ammonia exposure, although there no studies
 were located that examine that hypothesis (EPA 2012).
- A UF_A was not applicable because the key study involved human subjects.
- A UF_L was not applicable because a free-standing NOAEL was identified in the study.
- A UF_{Sub} was not applicable because workers were exposed to ammonia for 12 years, which is greater than 10% of the default lifetime exposure duration of 70 years.
- A UF_D of 1 was applied as the database on ammonia is extensive. Epidemiological studies on ammonia include industrial worker populations, cross sectional studies in livestock farmers exposed to inhaled ammonia and other chemicals, and controlled exposure studies. Subchronic animal studies, conducted in a number of species, including rats, guinea pigs, and pigs, examined respiratory and other systemic effects of ammonia. Other animal studies include several immunotoxicty studies and one limited, reproductive toxicity study in young female pigs. While the database lacks multigeneration reproductive and developmental toxicity studies, these studies would not be expected to impact the determination of ammonia toxicity at the POD. Ammonia is endogenously produced and homeostatically regulated in humans and animals during fetal and adult life. Evidence in animals suggests that exposure to ammonia at concentrations up to 1000 ppm does not alter blood ammonia levels (Schaerdel et al. 1989). The concentrations of ammonia at the POD for the ReV would not be expected to result in systemic toxicity, including reproductive or developmental toxicity.

The UFs were applied to the $POD_{HEC-ADJ}$ from the key study to calculate the chronic ReV (Table 6). The chronic ReV was calculated as follows:

```
chronic ReV = POD_{HEC-ADJ} / (UF<sub>H</sub> x UF<sub>A</sub> x A UF<sub>L</sub> x UF<sub>Sub</sub> x UF<sub>D</sub>)
= 4464 ppb / (10 \times 1 \times 1 \times 1 \times 1)
= 446.4 ppb
= 450 ppb (rounded to two significant figures)
```

4.1.6 Health-Based Chronic ReV and $^{chronic}ESL_{threshold(nc)}$

The chronic ReV of 446.4 ppb from the key study was rounded to two significant figures at the end of all calculations, yielding a chronic ReV of 450 ppb (320 $\mu g/m^3$) (Table 6). The rounded chronic ReV was multiplied by the target hazard quotient of 0.3 to produce the $^{chronic}ESL_{threshold(nc)}$ of 130 ppb (92 $\mu g/m^3$).

 $Table\ 6\ Derivation\ of\ the\ Chronic\ ReV\ and\ ^{chronic}ESL_{threshold(nc)}$

Parameter	Values and Descriptions
Study	Holness et al. (1989)
Study Population	58 occupationally-exposed healthy male workers in a soda ash plant (31 control workers)
Study Quality	Medium
Exposure Method	High exposure group of 12.5 ppm, as determined by personal sampler tubes worn for the duration of the work shift
Critical Effects	Free-standing NOAEL for lack of significant differences in self-reported symptoms and/or measured lung function parameters
PODHEC	12500 ppb (free-standing NOAEL)
Exposure Duration	8.4 h (average) for 12.2 years (average)
Extrapolation to continuous exposure (POD _{ADJ-HEC})	4464 ppb
Total UFs	10
Interspecies UF	10
Intraspecies UF	NA
LOAEL UF	NA
Subchronic to chronic UF	NA
Incomplete Database UF Database Quality	1 High
Chronic ReV (HQ = 1)	320 μg/m ³ (450 ppb)
chronicESLthreshold(nc) (HQ = 0.3)	92 μg/m ³ (130 ppb)

4.1.7 Comparison of Various Chronic Toxicity Values

Table 7 is a comparison of the toxicity values derived by other federal and state agencies.

Table 7 Comparison of Ammonia Chronic Toxicity Values

Toxicity Value and Agency	Chronic Toxicity Value	Point of Departure	Total Uncertainty Factors	Key Study
Draft RfC USEPA (USEPA 2012)	420 ppb (300 μg/m ³)	12500 ppb (NOAEL)	10	Holness et al. (1989)
REL California Environmental Protection Agency (California EPA 1999)	300 ppb (200 μg/m ³)	9200 ppb (NOAEL)	10	Holness et al. (1989), supported by Broderson et al. (1976)
Inhalation MRL ATSDR (ATSDR 2004)	100 ppb (70 μg/m ³)	9200 ppb (NOAEL)	30 (uncertainty factor of 10 and modifying factor of 3)	Holness et al. (1989)
ReV TCEQ	450 ppb (320 μg/m ³)	12500 ppb (NOAEL)	10	Holness et al. (1989)

4.2 Carcinogenic Potential

Data are inadequate for an assessment of human carcinogenic potential of ammonia via the inhalation route. Ammonia has not been evaluated for its carcinogenic potential by the International Agency for Research on Cancer. The USEPA states that under their Guidelines for Carcinogen Risk Assessment, there is "inadequate information to assess carcinogenic potential" of ammonia (USEPA 2012). According to ATSDR (2004), there is no evidence that ammonia causes cancer.

4.3 Welfare-Based Chronic ESL

Scant information on the long-term effects of ambient concentrations of ammonia on vegetation was available in the reviewed literature. Field observations have noted foliar damage in trees and reduced forest vitality in areas near large sources of ammonia, such as agricultural activities and intensive livestock operations (Krupa 2003; Dueck et al. 1990. Van der Eerden et al. (1991) state

Ammonia Page 24

that generally concentrations of ammonia less than $100~\mu g/m^3$ result in plant growth stimulation, rather than adverse vegetation effects. A ^{chronic}ESL_{veg} was not developed due to limitations and effects in species not grown in Texas (TCEQ 2012) discussed below.

Van der Eerden et al. (1991) evaluated a series of ammonia exposure experiments in heathland vegetation. In one experiment, European mountain tobacco (*Arnica montana*) was exposed in open-top chambers to 3, 6, 35, 53, or $105 \,\mu\text{g/m}^3$ ammonia or a combination of $53 \,\mu\text{g/m}^3$ ammonia and $90 \,\mu\text{g/m}^3$ sulfur dioxide for 16 months. Approximately 60% of the plants at the 6 $\mu\text{g/m}^3$ ammonia exposure level survived and approximately 40% of these plants produced flowers. A LOEL of 6 $\mu\text{g/m}^3$ for mountain tobacco was identified from this study. It should be noted that two grasses in the experiment (*Deschampsia flexuosa* and *Molinia cearulea*) showed no reduction in survival under the same conditions. The authors also note that heathland vegetation is relatively sensitive to the effects of ammonia. Since mountain tobacco is not grown in or of agricultural importance to Texas, the LOEL of 6 $\mu\text{g/m}^3$ identified by Van der Eerden et al. (1991) was not used to set an $^{\text{chronic}}\text{ESL}_{\text{veg}}$.

Van Hove et al. (1991) fumigated poplar (*Populus euramericana* L. cv. Flevo) shoots with 64 $\mu g/m^3$ ammonia or 69 $\mu g/m^3$ ammonia in conjunction with 46 $\mu g/m^3$ sulfur dioxide for seven weeks. The authors noted no injury to the leaf cuticle and instead noted a positive effect of ammonia exposure on carbon dioxide assimilation, stomatal conductance, and ammonia uptake into leaves. According to the authors, "It seems that the NH₃ concentration in the atmosphere counteracts the negative effect of SO₂ on the CO₂ assimilation of leaves."

Dueck et al. (1990) showed increased injury to Scots pine trees (*Pinus sylvestris*); however, the study was not deemed of sufficient quality to derive the ESL. In the first experiment, 12 three year-old trees were fumigated in open-top chambers to 53 or 105 µg/m³ of ammonia or a mixture of 53 µg/m³ ammonia and 92 µg/m³ sulfur dioxide for five months. The authors only noted needle injury in the presence of both ammonia and sulfur dioxide. In the second experiment, ten trees were fumigated in open-top containers to filtered air, ambient air, or ammonia-amended ambient air at 25, 53, or 105 µg/m³ for ten months and the trees' frost hardiness, as measured by rate of electrolyte leakage in needles, and drought hardiness was determined. The authors noted some evidence of increased frost sensitivity at the 105 µg/m³ exposure level, but only at temperatures below -10 °C (14 °F). The authors also noted that drought hardiness was affected by increasing ammonia concentrations, but statistical analysis of the data was not provided. Similarly, although the authors noted decreased bud bursts with increasing ammonia concentrations, statistical analyses of the data were not provided. In addition, the authors noted that they were unsure how severe of a detriment the observed bud mortality and reduced shoot length would be to the overall productivity of the plant, as the tree may be able to recover. Because the experimental temperatures are not common to Texas and sustained temperatures at these levels are even less common, the study's evaluation of frost hardiness was not considered applicable to Texas. In addition, because of the lack of statistical analyses for drought tolerance

and data on bud mortality was not provided and difficult to interpret, the study was not considered of sufficient quality for derivation of the ^{chronic}ESL_{veg}.

4.4 Long-Term ESL and Values for Air Monitoring Evaluation

The chronic evaluation resulted in the derivation of the following values (see Table 6):

Chronic ReV =
$$320 \mu g/m^3$$
 (450 ppb)
chronic ESL_{threhsold (nc)} = $92 \mu g/m^3$ (130 ppb)

The long-term ESL for air permit evaluations is the $^{chronic}ESL_{threshold(nc)}$ of 130 ppb (92 $\mu g/m^3$) (Table 2). Although we do not currently monitor for ammonia, the chronic ReV of 450 ppb (320 $\mu g/m^3$) would be used to evaluate monitoring data (Table 1). The $^{chronic}ESL_{threshold\,(nc)}$ is not used to evaluate ambient air monitoring data.

4.5 Chronic Inhalation OAEL

In regard to the lowest chronic concentrations producing respiratory symptoms in humans, a concentration of 18 mg/m³ (25 ppm) was associated with significant relative risks for cough, phlegm, wheezing, dyspnea, chronic bronchitis, and bronchial asthma in workers (exposure duration not reported). Since the chronic ReV is based on a NOAEL, the concentration of 18 mg/m³ (25 ppm) is selected as the chronic OAEL (Ballal et al. 1998). This concentration is higher than the acute OAEL of 5 ppm, but in the range of other acute concentrations causing eye, nose, throat, and respiratory irritation. Adverse effects are not a certainty at that concentration. As the basis for development of inhalation observed adverse effect levels is limited to available data, future studies could possibly identify a lower POD for this purpose. Depending on the sensitivity of the study population (male workers in two Saudi Arabian urea fertilizer plants) to those exposed environmentally, other subpopulations could be more sensitive.

Chapter 5 References

5.1 References Cited in the Development Support Document

Alberta Environment. 2004. Assessment Report on Ammonia for Developing Air Quality Objectives-Volume 1. Pub. No: T/734. Available from: http://environment.gov.ab.ca/info/library/6655.pdf.

American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists (ACGIH). 2001. Threshold limit values for chemical substances and physical agents and biological exposure indices. Cincinnati, OH.

American Industrial Hygiene Association (AIHA). 1989. Odor Thresholds for Chemicals with Established Occupational Health Standards. Akron, Ohio.

- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2004. Toxicological Profile for Ammonia.
- Anderson SP, RL Corsi, J Banks, K Kinny, and MG Sawar. 2002. Non-Point Source Ammonia Emissions in Texas: Estimation Methods, Pitfalls, Corrections, and Comparisons. Paper presented at the 11th International Emission Inventory Conference "Emission Inventories Partnering for the Future," Atlanta, Georgia, April 15-18, 2002.
- Ballal SG, BA Ali, AA Albar, HO Ahmed, and AY Al-Hasan. 1998. Bronchial asthma in two chemical fertilizer producing factories in Eastern Saudi Arabia. The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease 2(4): 330-335.
- Bello A, MM Quinn, MJ Perry, DK Perry, and DK Milton. 2010. Quantitative assessment of airborne exposures generated during common cleaning tasks: a pilot study. Environmental Health 9: 76.
- Brautbar N, MP Wu, and ED Richter. 2003. Chronic ammonia inhalation and interstitial pulmonary fibrosis: a case report and review of the literature. Archives of Environmental Health 58(9): 592-596.
- Broderson JR, JR Lindsey, and JE Crawford. 1976. The role of environmental ammonia in respiratory mycoplasmosis of rats. American Journal of Pathology 85(1): 115-128.
- California Environmental Protection Agency (California EPA). 1999. Determination of Acute Reference Exposure Levels for Airborne Toxicants, Acute Toxicity Summary, Ammonia.
- California Environmental Protection Agency (California EPA). 2000. Determination of Chronic Reference Exposure Levels for Airborne Toxicants, Chronic Toxicity Summary, Ammonia.
- ChemFinder.com. 2008. Ammonia. ChemFinder.com database and internet searching. http://chemfinder.cambridgesoft.com/result.asp, accessed November 10, 2008.
- Committee on the Environment and Natural Resources, Air Quality Research Subcommittee. 2000. Atmospheric Ammonia: Sources and Fate. A Review of Ongoing Federal Research and Future Needs. Boulder, Colorado. Available from: http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/csd/aqrs/reports/ammonia.pdf.
- De la Hoz RE, DP Schlueter, and WN Rom. 1996. Chronic lung disease secondary to ammonia inhalation injury: a report on three cases. American Journal of Industrial Medicine 29: 209-214.

- Diekman MA, AB Scheidt, AL Sutton, et al. 1993. Growth and reproductive performance, during exposure to ammonia, of gilts afflicted with pneumonia and atrophic rhinitis. Am J Vet Res 54(12): 2128-2131 (as cited in ATSDR 2004).
- Dueck TA, FG Dorel, R Ter Horst, and LJ Van der Eerden. 1990. Effects of ammonia, ammonium sulphate and sulphur dioxide on the frost sensitivity of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.). Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 54: 35-49.
- Farquhar GD, PM Firth, R Wetselaar, and B Weir. 1980. On the gaseous exchange of ammonia between leaves and the environment: determination of the ammonia compensation point. Plant Physiology 66: 710-714,
- Fedoruk MJ, R Bronstein, and BD Kerger. 2005. Ammonia exposure and hazard assessment for selected household cleaning product uses. Journal of Exposure Analysis and Environmental Epidemiology 15: 534-544.
- Ferguson WS, WC Koch, LB Webster, and JR Gould. 1977. Human physiological response and adaptation to ammonia. Journal of Occupational Medicine 19(5) 319-326.
- Hazardous Substance Data Bank (HSDB). 1998. Ammonia. TOXNET Databases on toxicology, hazardous chemicals, environmental health, and toxic releases. http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgi-bin/sis/search/f?./temp/~s72leA:1.
- Holness DL, JT Purdham, and JR Nethercott. 1989. Acute and chronic respiratory effects of occupational exposure to ammonia. American Industrial Hygiene Association Journal 50(12): 646-650.
- Hulsenberg C. 1990. Wirkungen von gasformigem ammoniak auf gartnerische nutzpflanzen. In: KTBL/VDI (Ed.), Ammoniak in der Umwelt. Kreislaufe, Wirkungen, Minderung., Gemeinsames Symp., 10-12 Okt. 1990, FAL, Braunschweig-Volkenrode. Landwirtschaftsverlag, Munster-Hiltrup, pp. 10.1-10.8 (as cited in Krupa 2003).
- Husted S and JK Schjoerring. 1996. Ammonia flux between oilseed rape plants and the atmosphere in response to changes in leaf temperature, light intensity, and air humidity. Plant Physiology 112: 67-74.
- Ihrig A, J Hoffman, and G Triebig. 2006. Examination of the influence of personal traits and habituation on the reporting of complaints at experimental exposure to ammonia. International Archives of Occupational Environmental Health 79: 332-338.
- Industrial Bio-Test Laboratories, Inc. 1973. Irritation Threshold Evaluation Study with Ammonia. Publication IBT 663-03161. Report to International Institute of Ammonia

- Refrigeration by Industrial Bio-Test Laboratories, Inc. March 23, 1973 (as cited in NRC 2008).
- Krupa SV. 2003. Effects of atmospheric ammonia (NH3) on terrestrial vegetation: a review. Environmental Pollution 124: 179-221.
- Landahl, RD and RG Herrmann. 1950. Retention of vapors and gases in the human nose and lung. Archives of Industrial Hygiene and Occupational Medicine 1:36-45.
- Leonardos G, D Kendall, and N Barnard. 1969. Odor threshold determinations of 53 odorant chemicals. Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association 19: 91-95.
- MacEwen JD, J Theodore, and EH Vernot. 1970. Human exposure to EEL concentrations of monomethylhydrazine. Pp. 355-363 in Procedings of the 1st Annual Conference Environmental Toxicology, September 9-11, 1970, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, OH. AMRL-TR-70-102, Paper No 23. Aerospace Medical Research Laboratory, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, OH (as cited in NRC 2008).
- Medina-Ramon M, JP Zock, M Kogevinas, J Sunyer, Y Torralba, A Borrell, F Burgos, and JM Anto. 2005. Asthma, chronic bronchitis, and exposure to irritant agents in occupational domestic cleaning: a nested case-control study. Occupational and Environmental Medicine 62: 598-606.
- Mirabelli MC, J-P Zock, E Plana, JM Anto, G Benke, PD Blanc, ADahlman-Hoglund, DL Jarvis, H Kromhout, L Lillienberg, D Norback, M Olivieri, K Radon, J Sunyer, K Toren, M van Sprundel, S Villani, and M Kogevinas. 2007. Occupational risk factors for asthma among nurses and related healthcare professionals in an international study. Occupational and Environmental Medicine 64: 474-479.
- Nagata, Y. 2003. Measurement of odor threshold by triangular odor bag method. Odor Measurement Review, Japan Ministry of the Environment:118-127.
- National Institute for Working Life (NIWL). 2005. The Nordic Expert Group for Criteria Documentation of Health Risks from Chemicals, 137. Ammonia. Available from: http://www.inchem.org/documents/kemi/kemi/ah2005_13.pdf.
- National Resource Council (NRC). 2008. Acute Exposure Guideline Levels (AEGLs) for ammonia (CAS Reg. No. 7664-41-7). Available from: <u>EPA AEGL</u>.
- Oikawa, D, Takeuchi, W, Murata, S, Takahashi, and Y Sekine. 2012. Measurement of concentrations of thioglycolic acid, dithiodiglycolic acid and ammonia in indoor air of a beauty salon. Journal of Occupational Health 54:370-375.

- Ontario Ministry of Environment (OMOE). 2001. Ontario Air Standards for Ammonia. Available from: http://www.downloads.ene.gov.on.ca/envision/env_reg/er/documents/2001/airstandards/p a00e0003.pdf.
- Petrova M, J Diamond, B Schuster, and P Dalton. 2008. Evaluation of trigeminal sensitivity to ammonia in asthmatics and healthy human volunteers. Inhalation Toxicology 20: 1085-1092.
- Rahman H, M Bratveit, and BE Moen. 2007. Exposure to ammonia and acute respiratory effects in a urea fertilizer factory. International Journal of Occupational and Environmental Health 13: 153-159.
- Sather ME, J Mathew, N Nguyen, J Lay, G Golod, R Vet, J Cotie, T Hertel, E Aaboe, R Callison, J Adam, D Keese, J Freise, A Hathcoat, B Sakizzie, M King, C Lee, S Oliva, G San Miguel, L Crow, and F Geasland. 2008. Baseline ambient gaseous ammonia concentrations in the Four Corners area and eastern Oklahoma, USA. Journal of Environmental Monitoring 10(11): 1319-1325.
- Schaerdel AD, WJ White, CM Lang, BH Dvorchik, and K Bohner. 1983. Localized and systemic effects of environmental ammonia in rats. Laboratory Animal Science 33(1): 40-45.
- Sigurdarson ST, PT O'Shaughnessy, JA Watt, and JN Kline. 2004. Experimental human exposure to inhaled grain dust and ammonia: towards a model of concentrated animal feeding operations. American Journal of Industrial Medicine 46: 345-348.
- Silverman L, JL Whittenberger, and J Muller. 1949. Physiological response of man to ammonia in low concentrations. Journal of Industrial Hygiene and Toxicology 31(2): 74-78.
- Smeets MAM, PJ Bulsing, S van Rooden, R Steinmann, JA de Ru, NWM Ogink, C van Thriel, and PH Dalton. 2007. Odor and irritation thresholds for ammonia: a comparison between static and dynamic olfactometry. Chemical Senses 32: 11-20. Available from: http://chemse.oxfordjournals.org/content/32/1/11.full.pdf+html
- Sundblad B-M, B-M Larsson, F Acevedo, L Ernstgard, G Johanson, K Larsson, and L Palmberg. 2004. Acute respiratory effects of exposure to ammonia on health persons. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment, & Health 30(4): 313-321.
- Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ). 2012. TCEQ Guidelines to Develop Toxicity Factors. Executive Director's Office. RG-442 Available from: http://www.tceq.state.tx.us/implementation/tox/esl/guidelines/about.html.

- Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ). (2015). Approaches to derive odor-based values. Texas Commission on Environmental Quality. Office of the Executive Director, Austin, TX.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1991. Ammonia. Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) on-line database.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2002. Review of emission factors and methodologies to estimate ammonia emissions from animal waste handling. Publication No. EPA/600/R-02/017. Research Triangle Park, NC.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2013. Toxicological review of ammonia in support of summary information on the Integrated Risk Information System. August 2013. EPA/635/R-13/0139a. Revised external review draft.
- United States Geological Survey (USGS). 2011. Mineral Commodity Summaries: Nitrogen (fixed) Ammonia. http://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/mcs/2011/mcs2011.pdf.
- Van der Eerden LJM. 1982. Toxicity of ammonia to plants. Agriculture and Environment 7: 223-235.
- Van der Eerden LJM, TA Dueck, JJM Berdowski, H Greven, and HF Van Dobben. 1991. Influence of NH3 and (NH4)2SO4 on heathland vegetation. Acta Botanica Neerlandica 40(4): 281-296.
- Van Doorn, R., M.W. Ruijten, and T. Van Harreveld. 2002. Guidance for the Application of Odor in Chemical Emergency Response. Version 2.1; August 29, 2002. Presented at the NAC/AEGL-Meeting September 2002, Washington D.C.
- Van Hove LWA, EH Adema, and WJ Vredenberg. 1987. The uptake of atmospheric ammonia by leaves: In: Mathy, P. (Ed.), Air Pollution and Ecosystems, Proc. Int. Symp., Grenoble, France, 18-22 May 1987. Reidel, Dordrecht, pp. 734-742 (as cited in Krupa 2003).
- Van Hove LWA, O van Kooten, KJ van Wijk, WJ Vredenberg, EH Adema, and GA Pieters. 1991. Physiological effects of long term exposure to low concentrations of SO2 and NH3 on poplar leaves. Physiologia Plantarum 82: 32-40.
- Verberk MM. 1977. Effects of ammonia in volunteers. International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health 39: 73-81.
- Willems EW. B Rambali, W Vleeming, A Opperhuizen, and JGC van Amsterdam. 2006. Significance of ammonium compounds on nicotine exposure to cigarette smokers. Food and Chemical Toxicology 44(5): 678-688.

World Health Organization (WHO). 1986. Ammonia. Environmental Health Critera. Volume 54. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

5.2 Other Studies and Documents Reviewed by the TCEQ

- Bull KR and MA Sutton. 1998. Critical loads and the relevance of ammonia to an effects-based nitrogen protocol. Atmospheric Environment 32(3): 565-572.
- Chaung H-C, L-C Hsia, and S-H Liu. 2008. The effects of vitamin A supplementation on the production of hypersensitive inflammatory mediators in ammonia-induced airways of pigs. Food and Agricultural Immunology 19(4) 283-291.
- Dodd KT and DR Gross. 1980. Ammonia inhalation toxicity in cats: a study of acute and chronic respiratory dysfunction. Archives of Environmental Health 35(1): 6-14.
- Drummond JG, SE Curtis, RC Meyer, J Simon, and HW Norton. 1981. Effects of atmospheric ammonia on young pigs experimentally infected with Bordetella bronchiseptica. American Journal of Veterinary Research 42(6): 963-968.
- Gomzi M and M Saric. 1997. Respiratory impairment among children living in the vicinity of a fertilizer plant. International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health 70: 314-320.
- Hamilton TDC, JM Roe, P Jones, S Bernard, and AJF Webster. 1998. Effect of chronic exposure to gaseous ammonia on the nasal turbinates of gnotobiotic pigs. Inhalation Toxicology 10: 753-764.
- Leduc D, P Gris, P Lheureux, PA Gevenois, P De Vuyst, and JC Yernault. 1992. Acute and long term respiratory damage following inhalation of ammonia. Thorax 47: 755-757.
- Mayan MH and CP Merilan. 1972. Effects of ammonia inhalation on respiration rate of rabbits. Journal of Animal Science 34(3):448-452.
- McDonnell PE, MA Coggins, VJ Hogan, and GT Fleming. 2008. Exposure assessment of airborne contaminants in the indoor environment of Irish swine farms. Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine 15: 323-326.
- Pearson J and GR Stewart. 1993. Tansley Review No. 56. The deposition of atmospheric ammonia and its effects on plants. New Phytologist 125: 283-305.
- Rejniuk VL, TV Schafer, and JJ Ivnitsky. 2008. Ammonia potentiates the lethal effect of ethanol on rats. Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine 145(6): 741-743.

- Reynolds SJ, KJ Donham, P Whitten, JA Merchant, LF Burmeister, and WJ Popendorf. 1996. Longitudinal evaluation of dose-response relationships for environmental exposures and pulmonary function in swine production workers. American Journal of Industrial Medicine 29: 33-40.
- Schmidt FC and DC Vallencourt. 1948. Changes in the blood following exposure to gaseous ammonia. Science 108: 555-556.
- Shusterman D, E Matovinovic, and A Salmon. 2006. Does Haber's Law apply to human sensory irritation? Inhalation Toxicology 18: 457-471.
- Stulen I, M Perez-Soba, LJ De Kok, and L Van der Eerden. 1998. Impact of gaseous nitrogen deposition on plant functioning. New Phytologist 139: 61-70.
- Sutton MA, C Milford, U Dragosits, CJ Place, RJ Singles, RI Smith, CER Pitcairn, D Fowler, J Hill, HM ApSimon, C Ross, R Hill, SC Jarvis, BF Pain, VC Phillips, R Harrison, D Moss, J Webb, SE Espenhahn, DS Lee, M Hornung, J Ullyett, KR Bull, BA Emmett, J Lowe, and GP Wyers. 1998. Dispersion, deposition and impacts of atmospheric ammonia: quantifying local budgets and spatial variability. Environmental Pollution 102: 349-361.
- ten Berge WF. 1986. Concentration-time mortality response relationship of irritant and systemically acting vapours and gases. Journal of Hazardous Materials 13: 301-309.
- Whittenberger JL. 1949. Blood changes due to ammonia inhalation? Science 109(2823): 121-122.
- Ytrebo LM, S Sen, C Rose, G AM Ten Have, NA Davies, S Hodges, GI Nedredal, M Romero-Gomez, R Williams, A Revhaug, R Jalan, and NEP Deutz. 2006. Interorgan ammonia, glutamate, and glutamine trafficking in pigs with acute liver failure. American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 291: G373-G381.